
 

 

Scrutiny & Overview 
Committee 
Agenda 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To: Councillors Sean Fitzsimons (Chair), Robert Ward (Vice-Chair), Leila Ben-

Hassel (Deputy-Chair), Jerry Fitzpatrick, Oni Oviri and Joy Prince 
  

Reserve Members: Jeet Bains, Robert Canning, Richard Chatterjee, 
Pat Clouder, Mary Croos and Andrew Pelling 
 

 
A meeting of the Scrutiny & Overview Committee which you are hereby 
summoned to attend, will be held on Tuesday, 9 February 2021 at 6.30 pm. This 
meeting will be held remotely.  
 
Jacqueline Harris Baker 
Council Solicitor & Monitoring Officer 
London Borough of Croydon 
Bernard Weatherill House 
8 Mint Walk, Croydon CR0 1EA 

Simon Trevaskis 
0208 7266000 
simon.trevaskis@croydon.gov.uk 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings 
Monday, 1 February 2021 

 

Members of the public are welcome to view the webcast both live and after the 
meeting has completed at http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk 
 
The agenda papers for all Council meetings are available on the Council website 
www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings  
 
If you require any assistance, please contact Simon Trevaskis 
0208 7266000  as detailed above.  
 

Public Document Pack

http://webcasting.croydon.gov.uk/
http://www.croydon.gov.uk/meetings


 

 

AGENDA – PART A 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence  

 To receive any apologies for absence from any members of the 
Committee. 
 

2.   Disclosure of Interests  

 In accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct and the statutory 
provisions of the Localism Act, Members and co-opted Members of the 
Council are reminded that it is a requirement to register disclosable 
pecuniary interests (DPIs) and gifts and hospitality to the value of which 
exceeds £50 or multiple gifts and/or instances of hospitality with a 
cumulative value of £50 or more when received from a single donor 
within a rolling twelve month period. In addition, Members and co-opted 
Members are reminded that unless their disclosable pecuniary interest is 
registered on the register of interests or is the subject of a pending 
notification to the Monitoring Officer, they are required to disclose those 
disclosable pecuniary interests at the meeting. This should be done by 
completing the Disclosure of Interest form and handing it to the 
Democratic Services representative at the start of the meeting. The 
Chair will then invite Members to make their disclosure orally at the 
commencement of Agenda item 3. Completed disclosure forms will be 
provided to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion on the Register of 
Members’ Interests. 
 

3.   Urgent Business (if any)  

 To receive notice of any business not on the agenda which in the 
opinion of the Chair, by reason of special circumstances, be considered 
as a matter of urgency. 
 

4.   Review of Brick by Brick Croydon Ltd (Pages 5 - 28) 

 The Committee is asked to review the Review of Brick by Brick Croydon 
Ltd report with a view to submitting and conclusions or recommendation 
to Cabinet on 18 February 2021. 
 

5.   Interim Asset Disposal Strategy  

 The Committee is asked to review the Interim Asset Disposal Strategy, 
with a view to forming conclusions and recommendations for the 
Cabinet on the content (to follow). 
 

6.   Feedback on the Equalities Strategy  

 To note any conclusions or recommendations arising from an informal 
scrutiny review of the Equalities Strategy (to follow). 
 
 



 

 

7.   Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 The following motion is to be moved and seconded where it is proposed 
to exclude the press and public from the remainder of a meeting: 
 
“That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information falling within those paragraphs indicated in Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.” 
 
 

PART B 
 

8.   Review of Brick by Brick Croydon Ltd (Pages 29 - 74) 

 The Committee is asked to review the Review of Brick by Brick Croydon 
Ltd report with a view to submitting and conclusions or recommendation 
to Cabinet on 18 February 2021 (Part B). 
 

 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO: 
 

SCRUTINY & OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
9 February 2021 

SUBJECT: 
 

Review of Brick by Brick Croydon Ltd 
Brick By Brick Shareholder decision - the future of 

the company 
LEAD OFFICER:  
 

Katherine Kerswell - Interim Chief Executive 
Chris Buss - Consultant 

CABINET MEMBER: 
 

Councillor Hamida Ali - Leader of the Council  

PERSON LEADING AT 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
MEETING: 

Chris Buss – Independent Consultant 

PUBLIC/EXEMPT: 
 

Public 

 
ORIGIN OF ITEM: This report has been referred to the Scrutiny & Overview 

Committee by the Cabinet for its challenge and 
assessment. 

BRIEF FOR THE 
COMMITTEE: 

The Committee is recommended to: 
1. Consider and review the Cabinet report (Attached 

Appendix A); 
2. Consider any proposed conclusions and 

recommendation that it wishes to make on the 
report;  
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  

 
1.1. The Scrutiny & Overview Committee is asked to review the report attached 

at Appendix 1A, which sets out the findings from the review of Brick by Brick 
Croydon Ltd. This report is scheduled to be considered by the Cabinet at its 
meeting on 18 February 2021. 
 

1.2. In advance of the Cabinet meeting the report is presented to the Scrutiny 
and Overview Committee to review. Any conclusions or recommendations 
reached by the Committee will be reported back to the Cabinet on 18 
February during the consideration of the report.  

 
2. St Review of Brick by Brick Croydon Ltd -Brick By Brick Shareholder 

decision - the future of the company 
 

2.1. The report as submitted to the Cabinet including the majority of its 
appendices are appended in full at Appendix 1A and 1B to this summary. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 
2.2. A Part B Cabinet report and Appendix 1 are both confidential and are set out 

separately in part B of the agenda.  
 

 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER:  Chris Buss- Independent Consultant 
 
APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT 
 
Appendix 1A - Cabinet report of 18 February  
Appendix 1B – Appendices 2 - 4 
Appendix 1C – Cabinet report of 18 February (Confidential) 
Appendix 1D – Appendix 1 (Confidential)  
 
 

Page 6



LEGAL\47757000v1  

 
 
For General Release 
REPORT TO: CABINET 18th February 2021  

COUNCIL  29th March 2021    

SUBJECT: Review of Brick by Brick Croydon Ltd 
Brick By Brick Shareholder decision - the future of the 

company  

LEAD OFFICER: Katherine Kerswell – Interim Chief Executive 
Chris Buss- Consultant  

CABINET MEMBER: Leader of the Council 
Councillor Hamida Ali 

CORPORATE PRIORITY/POLICY CONTEXT/ AMBITIOUS FOR CROYDON  
This report arises from the decisions of the meetings of Cabinet on November 25th and 
Full Council on November 30th regarding the initial review of Brick by Brick and other 
subsidiary and investment arrangements.  
This further report reviews options for the future of Brick by Brick and outlines 
alternative arrangements to be considered for the delivery of social housing by the 
Council  

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT 
This report considers the options for the future of Brick by Brick and recommends a 
limited build out option. This option involves allowing Brick by Brick to continue building 
out schemes currently on site and due to complete by October 2021, market sites for 
disposal where completion dates are longer, and review sites no longer proposed for 
development. This option is to be considered in conjunction with a potential sale of the 
business.  
The Council has a significant financial exposure with Brick by Brick through provision of 
over £200m in development loans and therefore the options will each give the Council 
varying degree of risk and reward, which is further detailed within section 6 of the 
report. The recommended option results in Brick by Brick delaying repayment of the 
existing loans and potential further funding of no more than £9.99m, if required.  

FORWARD PLAN KEY DECISION REFERENCE NO.: 0621CAB 
 
 
 
1. CABINET RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
The Leader of the Council has delegated to the Cabinet the power to make the 
decisions set out in the recommendations below 
 
Cabinet is recommended to: 

 

Page 7



LEGAL\47757000v1  

1.1 Consider the PwC report including recommendations at Appendix 1 of the Part 
B agenda and the options set out in this report; agree to proceed with the option 
set out as scenario 2 of that report, which is a restricted build out of sites by 
Brick by Brick combined with a sale of sites under construction whilst still 
considering the option of a sale of the business, with a further report to Cabinet 
in April / May 2021.  
i. Note that, with any option, there will be further costs/resourcing (in particular 

the sale of the business option, in order to ensure the proper advice is 
obtained regarding valuation, legal and financial implications) and some write 
off of the Council’s investment (as further explained in the Part B report)  

 
1.2 Agree that revised funding arrangements be entered into with Brick by Brick to 

reflect the current loan positions and proposals for the future, including, where 
relevant, moving to a 100% debt funding position (as opposed to 25% equity 
and 75% debt); extending relevant loans and repayment periods; allowing  
delays with repayments of existing loans; agreeing to further funding of no more 
than £9.99 million in relation to sites proposed for Brick by Brick to continue 
developing (and only where absolutely necessary within an appropriate 
repayment period), and: 
i. Agree that the Interim Chief Executive be given delegated authority to finalise 

and agree the terms of new/varied funding agreements to be entered into 
between the Council and Brick by Brick in consultation with the Section 151 
Officer and Monitoring Officer and in consultation with the Leader, Deputy 
Leader and Cabinet Member for Resources and Financial Governance.  

ii. Note the progress of the loan agreement review (recommendation 19 of the 
Report in the Public Interest), as detailed in paragraphs 3.13-3.15 of this 
report. 

iii. Note the advice at paragraph within the Part B paper regarding the legal 
implications of these proposed revised funding arrangements 

iv. Agree, where practically possible, to apply all funds being received from Brick 
by Brick first to the accrued interest and any subsequent funding will be used 
to pay back the principle loans 

   
1.3 Agree for the necessary steps to be taken, in accordance with the Council’s 

Tenders and Contracts Regulations, to appoint marketing agents to consider the 
disposal options for the College Green site (note, this is the site adjacent to 
Fairfield Halls which was due to transfer to Brick by Brick, but is currently held 
by the Council); the outcome of this options appraisal shall be reported back to 
Cabinet in accordance with the Council’s governance processes. 
 

1.4 Agree for the Council to review those sites Brick by Brick propose not to 
develop, as identified in Appendix 4, and to receive a future report to Cabinet on 
the potential use and future of each site (note, these are sites that had originally 
been intended to be transferred to Brick by Brick but are still held by the 
Council).  
 

1.5 Agree that the plans to transfer the four sites identified in Appendix 4 from the 
Council to Brick by Brick proceed and, note, these sites will then be dealt with in 
accordance with recommendation 1.9 below. 
 

1.6 Approve that the Council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) can acquire 
residential units from Brick by Brick as part of this review and note that the 

Page 8



LEGAL\47757000v1  

upcoming report to Cabinet regarding the arrangements for the future 
development of social housing within the Housing Revenue Account business 
plan will include Brick By Brick developments sites as potential development 
options. The acquisition and development will be subject to a review of 
affordability and HRA revenue implications.  

 
The Cabinet, on behalf of the Council, exercising its functions as sole shareholder of 
Brick By Brick Croydon Ltd, is recommended to: 
 
1.7 Agree that Brick by Brick continue to build out those schemes currently on site 

and due to complete by October 2021 (as identified in Appendix 2) 
 

1.8 Agree that, in the event risks arise which affect timely completion of those sites 
referred to in Recommendation 1.7, agree that: 
i. Brick by Brick shall report to the Council’s Interim Chief Executive regarding 

those risks, including any development, operational, legal or other risks; 
ii. The Council’s  Interim Chief Executive, in consultation with the Section 151 

Officer and Leader, be authorised to decide:  
a. whether the risks are such that selling the site(s) urgently would be more 

economically advantageous and, in those circumstances, shall have the 
ability to authorise Brick by Brick to sell those relevant sites; or  

b. whether a further review is to be carried out and reported to Cabinet for 
a decision.  

 
1.9 Agree that, for those sites which have estimated completion dates beyond 

October 2021 (as identified in Appendix 2), Brick by Brick be authorised to:  
i. market the sites for sale and report back to the Council’s  Interim Chief 

Executive and Section 151 Officer regarding offers received;  
ii. Subject to any objection by the Council’s  Interim Chief Executive  in 

consultation  with the Section 151 Officer  and the Leader (note, this is to 
allow the Council the opportunity to consider whether continued build out of 
these sites might be more cost effective than offers received), sell those 
sites and, where necessary, novate any relevant contracts, such as building 
contracts, to the purchasers (for the avoidance of doubt, should the 
Council’s  Interim Chief Executive object, Brick By Brick shall not have the 
shareholder’s authority to sell those sites). 
 

1.10 Agree with the recommendation of the board of Brick By Brick to depart from the 
current Business Plan and no longer develop those sites identified in Appendix 
4, which are currently still owned by the Council (note, potential future transfers 
of interests in the work already undertaken will be the subject of a future report 
to Cabinet in accordance with recommendation 1.5 above). 
 

1.11 Agree that these recommendations be adopted by way of shareholder resolution 
as revisions to the Business Plan of Brick by Brick Croydon Ltd, thereby 
requiring the company and Directors of the company to act on these 
recommendations and to carry out all necessary actions to give effect to them. 
 

1.12 Require the Board of Brick by Brick to prepare and submit a revised Business 
Plan (by no later than May Cabinet) for adoption by the Council as shareholder, 
reflecting the decisions made under this report and to include the consequential 
impact on staffing and other relevant matters. 

Page 9



LEGAL\47757000v1  

 
COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1.13 The Council is asked to note the recommendations set out above, which are to 
be considered by Cabinet on 18 February 2021 and that Council shall receive a 
verbal update in respect of the outcome. 

  
 
 
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 
2.1 This purpose of this report is to receive and note the reported outcomes of the 

second stage of the strategic review with particular regard to the future 
activities of Brick by Brick. The review concludes that, in order to minimise the 
risk exposure to the Council and thus minimise the future losses to the Council, 
a decision on the future operation of Brick by Brick should be taken. This report 
outlines the options for Cabinet to consider in regard to the future of the 
company (and therefore changes to its Business Plan).  
 

2.2 The options contained in this report specifically address the sites that have 
been transferred to Brick by Brick or are also under contract and those which 
have not yet commenced and considers whether they should be built out by 
Brick by Brick and possibly sold on with novated contacts at a later date .  
 

2.3 The report recommends that the Council undertakes a review of those sites not 
yet transferred to Brick by Brick (and as such not being built out by Brick by 
Brick) to determine their future use, including whether some of the sites should 
be retained for the provision of new build social housing by the Council within 
the Housing Revenue account. 
 

2.4 The impact of a decision to proceed with the recommendations in this report on 
Brick by Brick means that the organisation will be in a run down situation whilst 
sites are completed or disposed of. This will impact staffing within Brick by Brick 
as the level of work diminishes.   
 

2.5  The report also recommends that, in parallel with the above that a sale for the 
Company should be considered and a final decision on Sale or build out be 
made at a future meeting of the Cabinet. 

  
3. THE REVIEW 
  

Background 
 
3.1 The Cabinet at its meeting on 25th November 2020, received a report on a 

strategic review by PwC of the Council’s group of companies and other entities.  
 

As a result of that review a number of specific recommendations were made 
concerning Brick by Brick.  

 
These were to:  
 

Page 10



LEGAL\47757000v1  

i) Authorise the initial further work required on the options identified by 
PWC regarding the Council’s interest in Brick by Brick in order to best 
inform further consideration and decision at the January Cabinet 
meeting. 
 

ii) Agree that funding of Brick by Brick shall continue in line with current 
loan arrangements and conditions subject to that further decision, 
provided that all funding for construction, and completed unit purchases 
be reviewed on a site by site basis. 

 
iii) Agree that all site transfers to Brick by Brick, be halted until the Council 

has completed the options appraisal and taken a final decision on the 
options. 

 
The level of work required as part of the second stage review was such that 
meeting the January report date was not practicable and it was agreed to 
move to the February Cabinet meeting. This was reported to the Scrutiny and 
Overview Committee at its meeting on December 21st 2020.   

   
3.2 The Council has also received and agreed a number of recommendations 

regarding Brick by Brick in the Report in the Public Interest report by Grant 
Thornton.  In particular that report contained four specific recommendations 
regarding the Council’s future relationship with Brick by Brick. These were - 
i) The Cabinet and Council should reconsider the financial business 

case for continuing to invest in Brick by Brick before agreeing any 
further borrowing. 
 

ii) The Cabinet and Council should review and reconsider the ongoing 
financial rationale for the Council in the equity investment 
arrangement with Brick by Brick. 

 
iii) The s151 officer and monitoring officer should monitor compliance 

with loan covenants with Brick by Brick and report any breaches to 
Members. 

 
iv) The Cabinet and Council should review its arrangements to govern 

its interest in subsidiaries, how the subsidiaries are linked, the long-
term impact of the subsidiaries on the Council’s financial position 
and how the Council’s and taxpayers interest is safeguarded. 

 
These issues with regard to the Council’s financial position are addressed in 
respect of Brick By Brick in this report (the wider governance considerations 
referred to at iv above are ongoing). 
 

3.3 The initial strategic review commissioned by the September 2020 Cabinet 
covered a wide range of actions concerning not only Brick by Brick, but also 
Croydon Affordable Homes LLP and its group companies, Growth Zone, 
Revolving Investment Fund and Asset Investment Fund.  

 

Page 11



LEGAL\47757000v1  

 The resulting action plan was reported to the Scrutiny and Overview Committee 
on December 21st 2020, whose comments then were reported to Cabinet on 18th 
January. The action plan will be monitored under corporate arrangements as part 
of the Croydon Renewal Improvement Plan and, except where it specifically 
relates to the future options for Brick by Brick, is not referenced in this report. 

 
 
 Risk Appetite  
 
3.4 Before examining the options available to the Council in regard to the future of 

Brick by Brick, it is essential that the Cabinet considers its current appetite for 
risk on investment activity with particular regard to the financial position that it 
finds itself in – i.e. a S114 notice and December 2020 submission to MHCLG 
for a capitalisation direction (loan) of £150m over 2020 - 2024.  

 
 When the Council set up Brick by Brick, there was limited regard evidenced in 

the Cabinet papers at the time of the potential downsides from investing 
through a wholly owned housing subsidiary and the risk to returns to the 
Council within a set period.  

 
 The emphasis in reporting the arrangements at that time was on the potential 

positives arising from the establishment of Brick by Brick with limited 
assessments of the risks potentially involved. The impact of that approach has 
in part led to the financial position that the Council now finds itself in.  The 
Council now has significantly less scope for adopting investment proposals  
where an element of risk may lead to greater reward.  The contrary argument 
applies that the greater risk may also lead to greater losses, so this is 
something the Council in its current financial position cannot afford to do.  

 
 This constrains some of the options available on the future of Brick by Brick, as 

albeit some of those options have a potentially greater reward, they also have a 
higher element of downside risk which could lead to increased losses.  

 
 In the light of this, the examination of the options has concentrated on where 

the Council can have greater certainty of outcome both in terms of future costs 
but also in terms of future income. The recommendations to Cabinet reflect this 
risk appetite.  

 
 Examining the Options  
 
3.5 The November Cabinet report, stated that there were a range of options 

available to the Council ranging from closing Brick by Brick, to building out 
schemes on site, to selling off the business or maintaining the company and 
continuing the business as usual.  

 
 In order to inform the second stage of the report, the Cabinet agreed to procure 

assistance from a local firm of cost consultants (FFT) who examined a number 
of existing Brick by Brick schemes to gain a view as to the likely level of build 
costs on a range of their schemes, likely completion dates and indicative cash 
flows.  Separately, valuation advice has been obtained on indicative sales 
figures for the same schemes. 

 

Page 12



LEGAL\47757000v1  

 These have been checked against information from Brick by Brick and then 
modelled by PwC to produce, in the absence of reliable cash flow data from 
Brick by Brick, some indicative cash flows for the immediate future to give some 
indication on two issues which are central to the consideration of future options 
for the company. Those two issues being: 

 
(i)  When the Council might start to receive repayment of some of its 

investment in Brick by Brick?  
 
and 

 
(ii)  Whether the Council would need to make any short term cash injections to 

ensure that Brick by Brick remains solvent?  
 
The resultant PwC report with recommendations is attached as Appendix 1 (but 
to the confidential part of the agenda only) –  

 
3.6 Before considering the benefits and disbenefits of the various options, it is 

important to note the stages of development of the various schemes 
undertaken by Brick by Brick. As at 1st January 2021, Brick by Brick had 29 
schemes on sites transferred or under contract with 931 homes being built or 
completed awaiting disposal (i.e. awaiting sale to members of the public, RSL’s 
or the Council).   

 
 Of that number 429 homes are likely to be completed by the end of October 

2021, of the remaining 501 homes, completion is estimated to be concluded by 
Mid 2023  

  
 The list of schemes included in the above totals are shown in Appendix 2 and 

includes some sites where contracts have been let but part or all of the site 
hasn’t been transferred to Brick by Brick or there are other issues to be 
resolved.  

 
 The latter schemes could be terminated and are referred to in Part B of this 

agenda.  
 
 It is assumed that for those schemes where a contractual commitment has not 

yet been made by Brick by Brick and where the land has not been transferred, 
development works will not be commenced and the potential future of these 
sites is referred to later in this paper. This is in accordance with the decision 
taken by Cabinet on 25th November 2020. 

 
3.7     The benefits and disbenefits of the options outlined in the original PwC report 

are set out in Appendix 3.  
 
 Some of the options such as immediate closure, management buy out or 

“business as usual” are non-viable, due either to the size of the loss for the 
Council that would be incurred or the lack of substantive funding from the 
Council to fund open-ended ongoing business other than for the immediate 
future.  

 

Page 13



LEGAL\47757000v1  

 The other options which involve either build out of sites, starting new sites or 
sale of the business all have an element of risk in terms of both valuation and 
cost uncertainty. This makes them potentially unpalatable options to the 
Council as the extensive build out would involve the Council entering into 
further General fund borrowing which would place additional pressures on the 
revenue budget without a guarantee of return.   

 
 The level of cost uncertainty and valuation assumptions are in the paper within 

the Part B of this agenda.   
 
 The decision as to which option to follow has been further narrowed by the 

proposal by the board of Brick by Brick not to build out 40 sites, which were 
under previous arrangements due to be transferred. This leaves the Council 
with the limited build out option of those 29 sites either transferred or under 
contract. Or a possible sale of the business based on the purchaser acquiring 
the Company which would include the ability to buildout the 29 sites. 

 
 This limited build out option (Scenario 1 in the Part B agenda) has merit as a 

considerable number of the sites are due to completed by the end of 2021 
meaning that the Council is able to determine, with a degree of accuracy, the 
level of costs and income accruing to Brick by Brick and thus any residual 
income returning to the Council. It should be noted that Covid 19 restrictions 
could adversely impact completion dates and thus sales income as well 
potentially increasing costs. 

 
3.8 However, the Scenario 1 option is not without issues as to build out all the sites, 

including some of the larger sites, means that Brick By Brick would have to 
continue as a trading entity to the end of this and the next financial year and 
into 2023/4. This has a number of inherent risks both in terms of cost and value 
but also in the practicality of keeping the company operational whilst it goes 
through what would, in effect, be a managed wind down.  

 
 A variant option (Scenario 2) has therefore been considered of a disposal and 

novation of some of the building contracts that would reduce Brick by Brick’s, 
and thus the Council’s, exposure to ongoing liabilities. This would involve the 
build out of the sites whilst purchasers were  found for those sites that are not 
due to complete by October 2021. For Scenario 2 to be successful there would 
need to be a successful purchase arrangement from one or more bidders for 
the sites. On balance, this could be seen as a less risky alternative than a 
managed wind down and long build out and, as such, it may be more likely to 
maximise value to the Council. A sale to a single bidder could also involve the 
transfer of some Brick by Brick staff under the TUPE regulations. 

 
3.9 Scenario 2 would require the full co-operation and agreement of Brick by Brick, 

initial discussions with the directors of Brick by Brick have been supportive of 
this approach. The arrangements, as set out in the Articles of Association and 
shareholder reserved matters, are that asset disposal would normally be a 
matter for Brick by Brick to determine where this is in line with the Cabinet 
approved business plan. The current business plan does not envisage this 
course of action and under the shareholder reserved matters this becomes a 
shareholder decision until such time as it is incorporated into an approved 
business plan.  

Page 14



LEGAL\47757000v1  

 
 In the light of this, Cabinet (if this option is agreed) would need to exercise its 

functions as shareholder to instruct and authorise the directors of Brick by Brick 
to commence a marketing exercise to sell onto other developers those sites 
that are not due to complete by the end of 2021.  

 
 The results of that exercise would then need to be reported back to the Council 

in order to allow the Council the opportunity to consider whether continued  
development of the site through Brick by Brick or the Council would be more 
cost effective than any offers received. The Council would then need to confirm 
whether they object to any disposal of the sites.  

 
 This disposal process would likely require decisions to be made swiftly and 

within timescales outside the normal Cabinet meeting timetable. It is therefore 
further recommended that, in order to ensure disposals are not jeopardised, 
decisions on whether to object to a disposal be made by the  Interim Chief 
Executive in consultation with the section 151 officer and the Leader and 
subsequently be reported to Cabinet. 

 
3.10 The decision to build out existing sites substantially under construction still has 

risk as Brick by Brick will effectively be in a “managed run down” situation and 
key staff may decide to leave, making it more difficult to manage the completion 
on site of those schemes. The Council and the board of Brick by Brick will 
therefore need to carefully monitor the situation and make arrangements to 
ensure that quick and speedy decisions can be made in order to minimise the 
Council’s exposure to additional financial risk. This may include authorising the 
board to dispose of further sites (other than those that are due to complete after 
October 2021) outside of the current authorised business plan, in 
circumstances where that is the most economically advantageous situation for 
the Council. In this case, again due to the likely need for emergency or 
expeditious action, it is recommended that the matter be delegated to the  
Interim Chief Executive in consultation  with the Section 151 Officer and the 
Leader and subsequently be reported to Cabinet. 

 
3.11    The Council would normally expect  to receive and consider a business plan for 

approval from Brick by Brick at this time for operations in 2021/22. Whilst the 
strategic review has been undertaken, Brick by Brick have not been able to 
undertake work on a business plan. Even in the circumstances set out in this 
report and in accordance with the Articles for Association, a Brick by Brick 
business plan is still required and will need to include the arrangements set out 
in this report, in particular the arrangements for disposal of sites and the 
consequential impact on staffing and other related matters. This will be reported 
to a future meeting of Cabinet (by no later than May).  

 
3.12   The other potentially viable option as set out in the Part B agenda could be a 

sale of the whole business to a third party. This option is under the PwC 
analysis potentially beneficial to the Council and would be at the choice of the 
Council not Brick by Brick. The initial view in November was that this option 
would both be time consuming and unlikely to be attractive to the market if the 
Council went into an open market situation. However, an off market sale would 
be less time consuming and could potentially generate a better outcome 
financially than the build out option. The Council has had one approach from an 

Page 15



LEGAL\47757000v1  

interested party and it is suggested that this be followed up to see on what 
terms a disposal might be possible and to compare those terms with the two 
scenarios contained in this paper. As explained in the confidential paper the 
Council would need to undertake due diligence on this offer. Please note the 
further resourcing required, as set out in section 6. 

 
   
 
 Other issues 
 
3.13 Funding Agreements-The Council has as at 31st December 2020 lent £196, 

287,521 to Brick By Brick. This excludes accrued interest of £27,300,023 that 
will be accrued by the end of the 20/21. A significant proportion of this sum, as 
identified in the original strategic review report, is in loans that are either time 
expired or not fully documented. As identified in both the strategic review report 
and the report in the public interest, these agreements need to be regularised. 
The original agreements were on the basis that loans effectively made up 75% 
of the value of the cash to be paid over to Brick by Brick with the remaining 
25% being equity. The Council has never made any equity payments and is 
now not in a financial position to do so. The original loan agreements also 
specified that any sales proceeds from properties sold by Brick by Brick are 
placed in an account for the Council to apply to interest repayment and, if there 
is any excess, to substantive loan repayment. This process hasn’t happened 
and sale proceeds have remained with Brick by Brick, in effect acting as 
working Capital replacing the Council’s equity share. The Council needs to 
either regularise this arrangement, make variations to the current agreements 
or replace it with either fresh loans or equity. 

 
3.14 The option of inserting equity is not feasible in the Council’s current financial 

predicament and raising fresh loans would in effect only recycle the sales 
proceeds. However, the present arrangement as set out in the loan 
agreements, if properly exercised, does give the Council control and it is 
therefore recommended that the current arrangements continue but in a 
modified way to give Brick by Brick capacity to have working capital to ensure 
that funds are available to build out units on site. It should be noted that the 
PwC analysis assumes that sale proceeds are recycled to Brick by Brick until 
there is positive cash flow. There is a minimal requirement based on the PwC 
modelling of under £10 million, which is supported by cash flow modelling from 
Brick by Brick  and, as such, Cabinet is recommended to agree this further 
funding to Brick By Brick in relation to schemes proposed to continue with 
development (recommendation 1.2). 

 
3.15 All of the loan agreements will need to be restructured or revised to cover the 

fact that there is now no equity input and the arrangements for working capital 
are covered as set out above. Discussions with the Council’s legal advisors are 
ongoing as to whether this is best undertaken through a single overarching 
agreement or a series of site specific agreements with one to cover working 
capital. In any event, identified breaches explained above will be formally 
documented and addressed in accordance with recommendation 19 of the 
Report in the Public Interest. It is therefore recommended that decisions 
regarding any revision of the loan arrangements be delegated to the  Interim 
Chief Executive in consultation with the Section 151 Officer and Monitoring 

Page 16



LEGAL\47757000v1  

Officer , the Leader , Deputy Leader and the Cabinet Member for Resources 
and  Financial Governance. (as set out in recommendation 1.2).              

 
3.16 Fairfield Halls and the College Green site  
 The refurbishment of Fairfield Halls was undertaken under license by Brick by 

Brick, as per the June 2016 decision of Cabinet. The initial intention was that 
these works would be at nil cost to the Council as the costs would be recovered 
by Brick by Brick from the profits on the sale of housing units from the adjacent 
College Green site. The Council has not, however, formally transferred the 
adjacent site to Brick by Brick. The arrangements concerning the governance 
and funding of this scheme are currently subject to a separate value for money 
investigation being undertaken by Grant Thornton as reported to members at 
the Scrutiny and Overview Committee in December 2020. The Council has, to 
date, lent in excess of £59 million to Brick by Brick to cover both the 
refurbishment of the halls and the planning costs of the adjacent site.   

 
3.17 The estimated costs and values of developing the consented scheme on the 

College Green site have been checked by appointed consultants and officers 
are of the view that there is a viable scheme. However, the scheme will not 
generate sufficient resources to pay back the loan to date on the refurbishment 
and would require additional significant equity or loan amounts in excess of the 
current loan if the Council were to continue to undertake the scheme via Brick 
by Brick.  

 
 In addition, the Council would vicariously have both cost and value risk on a 

scheme that will take a number of years to complete. In the light of this risk and 
the additional short term borrowing involved,  it is recommended that the 
College Green scheme, including elements of the adjacent car park, is not 
progressed by Brick by Brick. It is also recommended that the Council 
undertake a procurement exercise (in accordance with the Council’s Tenders 
and Contracts Regulations) to appoint marketing agents to report back to 
Cabinet on the best options for the disposal of the College Green site, including 
the adjacent car park (recommendation 1.4). This further report will also take 
cognisance of the findings of the Grant Thornton value for money review.  

 
3.18    Future of sites not transferred to Brick by Brick.  There are four sites where 

the Council has not yet transferred land where Brick by Brick have either 
commenced work on site or have effectively entered into a contract to 
commence building. These sites are detailed on the Part B paper. As part of the 
detailed analysis, it is recommended that the previous  plans to transfer these 
sites to Brick By Brick continue and then be included in the marketing exercise 
referred to in para 3.9, which would then potentially be transferred to any 
eventual developer.  

 
3.19    The Council has previously agreed to transfer a number of sites to Brick by 

Brick. These sites are at various stages in the planning process ranging from 
feasibility, through to obtaining planning consent. These sites are detailed in 
Appendix 4. The Council has lent £1,371 million to Brick by Brick in specific 
loans developing these sites, and part of the £35.265 million on development 
cost loans will also be attributable to these sites.There is potential to either sell 
on the sites or develop these for social housing within the Housing Revenue 
Account (although, at present, the value of this work is unquantifiable). 

Page 17



LEGAL\47757000v1  

However, that value will accrue to the Council at some future stage and it will 
need to recognise that the loans made to Brick by Brick for this work will now, 
like those for Fairfield Halls, need to be treated as a potential bad debt.  

 
 With regard to the sites set out in Appendix 4, the Council will need to decide 

on a site by site basis whether to retain or dispose of the site or to follow 
through with planning consents to maximise potential value to the Council. It is 
therefore recommended that the sites identified in Appendix 4 be subject to a 
further report back to Cabinet on their future use (recommendation 1.5). It 
should be noted that a number of sites that currently have planning consents 
subject to confirmation of section 106 agreements are likely to lapse as they 
are close to being time expired and the consents may not now be in 
accordance with planning policy.  

 
 Resources will need to be identified from within the Council to undertake this 

work both from within the property services team as well as the planning 
service.  

 
3.20   FUTURE DELIVERY OF SOCIAL HOUSING. Brick by Brick was originally set 

up to provide a vehicle by which the Council was able to meet housing demand, 
in particular affordable housing for rent at a time when there were constraints 
on the Council’s ability to provide such housing through direct delivery via the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA). The abolition of that constraint, namely the 
HRA borrowing cap in 2018, meant that the Council has, since 2018, been able 
to directly deliver new social housing subject to the constraint of affordability 
within the HRA.  

 
3.21 The Council, however, chose to continue to deliver new social housing units 

through Brick by Brick. If the Council decides that it no longer wishes to deliver 
housing via Brick by Brick and it wishes to provide additional affordable rented 
accommodation through the HRA, it will need to establish processes to both 
identify schemes that are physically capable of being developed in planning 
and construction terms but are also financially viable, in that the rent charged 
covers the revenue costs of managing and maintaining the new stock as well 
as the cost of funding any borrowing.  

 
 It should be noted that a revised policy on rent setting across the new build 

units is considered elsewhere on this Cabinet agenda .That policy, if approved, 
will assist with scheme development viability, including those schemes which 
are potential acquisitions from Brick by Brick into the HRA. In the event that 
some of those schemes are not viable, even within the parameters of the 
proposed rent policy, the Council may have to return GLA grant and/or lose the 
ability to recycle Right To Buy (RTB) receipts within the required time limits.  

 
3.22 A number of the sites in Appendix 4 could potentially fall into that category, 

particularly those that are currently on HRA land, utilising the existing work from 
Brick by Brick, high level appraisals will be undertaken on the delivery of social 
housing on those sites and reported back to Cabinet as part of the HRA 
Business Plan. 

 
3.23 The Council has previously agreed to purchase a number of completed units for 

social housing purposes within the HRA. These purchases were put on hold as 

Page 18



LEGAL\47757000v1  

part of the November 2020 Cabinet report. These sites are indicated in 
Appendix 2. On a site by site basis, where units meet the revenue affordability 
criteria set out in para 3.21 (i.e. that rent covers operational and financing costs 
and that the price agreed for purchase is deemed to be at market 
levels)purchases will be confirmed with Brick by Brick and payment be made on 
completion .  

 
 
4. CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 No formal consultation has been made on this report, other than factual 

accuracy checks with external third parties. Consultation on the future use of 
sites will need to take place in line with the council’s normal arrangements.  

 
 
5. PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY 
 
5.1 This report has been submitted to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 

comment at its meeting on February 9th .  
 
 
6 FINANCIAL AND RISK ASSESSMENT CONSIDERATIONS 
 
6.1    This report considers the various proposals in regards to future operations of 

Brick by Brick. The recommended course of action involves allowing Brick by 
Brick to continue building out schemes at an advanced stage, reviewing sites 
no longer proposed for development, disposing of sites at intermediate stage or 
sell the shares of the Company. The impacts of each is described in Section 
6.5 below. 

 
6.2 The option to sale the business will be worked on in parallel to the other 

proposals. Whilst the sale option can be worked in parallel for some time, there 
will come a point when the Council will need to decide if it wants to continue 
with disposing of sites or sell the Business. 

 
6.3 It is important to note that all funding provided by the Council has been 

provided through the Council taking on borrowing and then on lending this to 
Brick by Brick at a margin. The Council currently does not provide minimum 
revenue provision (MRP) on its loans to Brick by Brick due to the short nature 
of the loan period. However, as part of the 2021/22 Budget Setting report and 
the Treasury Management Strategy (to be reported to Full Council on 8th March 
2021) the Council will revise its policy to ensure the most prudent approach is 
taken on any funding provided to Brick by Brick.  

 
6.4 Option to continue development of schemes within the Brick by Brick 

with completion date of October 2021. There are  20 schemes that are 
planned to continue within Brick by Brick (Appendix 2). In order to complete the 
schemes the current loan agreement will be extended and additional loan 
funding will be provided so that the Council now lends 100% of the 
development costs through debt financing. In order to lend the money to Brick 
by Brick the council will need to borrow the funds from Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) and on lend to Brick by Brick at a margin. This is recommended 

Page 19



LEGAL\47757000v1  

to be at a maximum of £9.99 million.  
 
6.5 Whilst the Council does not have sighting of the scheme viability the 

expectation is that once these schemes are developed and the residential units 
sold, that will provide sufficient receipts to Brick by Brick to pay back the debt 
and interest income.  

 There is a risk that if Brick by Brick does not receive sufficient receipts from the 
disposal then the Council will not receive its funding back. This will require the 
Council write off the remaining loan balance and to carry cost of the loans. 

  
6.6 Option for Disposal of developments directly from Brick by Brick with 

completion date beyond October 2021. There are  9 schemes (Appendix 2) 
that are  planned to be disposed of by Brick by Brick. In this option the Council 
will not be providing further funding however once developments are disposed 
of by Brick by Brick it is expected that the company will use the receipts to pay 
back the outstanding loans. Should Brick by Brick not receive sufficient receipts 
from the disposals of its developments the Council will have to write off any 
outstanding loans balances and incur financing costs.  

 
6.7 Options for Disposal of College Green Site from the Council. The Council 

has lent £1.7m to Brick by Brick to carry out various development works at the 
College Green Site. When the site has been disposed of the receipts will be 
used to payback the outstanding Brick by Brick loan regarding this site. As in 
the other two options the risk is that should sufficient receipts from the disposal 
not be realised the Council will have to carry the cost of financing the 
outstanding loan amount. 

 
6.8 As the report indicates this option has inherent risks due to poor governance 

and funding arrangements and therefore detailed financial implications will be 
provided once the review from Grant Thornton has been completed.  

 
6.9 Option to Review remaining sites. Financial implications will be explored 

once the review has been completed of the schemes identified in Appendix 4. If 
the proposal is to bring developments back into the Council then all loans 
related to those schemes may need to be written off in the first instance. This 
will create an ongoing financing charge, through provision of the MRP, until that 
debt can be paid back. The Council will need to carry out an accounting 
assessment and seek advice from Treasury advisors if sites are being passed 
onto the HRA.  

 
6.10 Sale of the Company (Share Sale). This option will require significant due 

diligence and assessment against other options detailed within 6.4 to 6.9, 
before a definite financial implication analysis can be provided. The final 
assessment will depend upon the offer from a potential bidder and how the 
transactions are arranged to ensure the Council can recoup its loans to the 
Company. The Council will also need to incur additional costs to support the 
share sale option (to be progressed in accordance with the Council’s Tenders 
and Contracts Regulations and Spend Control Panel procedures) and shall be 
updated as part of the monthly financial performance reports.  

 
6.11 In addition Brick by Brick has various staff who are part of the Council’s Local 

Government Pension Scheme. Depending on the outcome of the work being 

Page 20



LEGAL\47757000v1  

done to review Brick by Brick, there will be impact on staffing within the 
company. Should staff decide to leave the company they will have option to 
either maintain their pension benefits or may seek to exit their membership and 
pass the benefits to another scheme. However, depending on their age staff 
may also be able to cash in on their pension earlier which will mean the 
Council’s pension fund will need to make benefit payments.   

 
 Approved by: (Lisa Taylor, Director of Finance Investment and Risk).   
 
7. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
7.1 The Head of Commercial and Property Law comments on behalf of the Director 

of Law & Governance that under the Council’s general power pursuant to 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011, the Council may exercise its rights as sole 
shareholder of Brick by Brick Croydon Ltd to take the steps identified in this 
report. Under the Articles of the company, the matters addressed are within the 
scope of “reserved matters”, i.e. matters for which the company needs 
shareholder approval and where the Council (as shareholder) may direct the 
company (and its directors). 

  
 In making decisions under this report, Members will need to be mindful of the 

Council’s financial position (including under the Section 114 notice), its fiduciary 
duties and the requirement to have regard to all relevant factors and to 
disregard irrelevant ones. The Council must act in accordance with the 
principles of Wednesbury reasonableness, meaning decisions that a rational 
person might make, having regard to all relevant considerations.  

 
 In relation to the recommendations in respect of revised funding arrangements, 

external legal advice from Browne Jacobson LLP has confirmed that this gives 
rise to no breach of the new “Subsidy Control “ regime (formerly State aid). This 
is on the basis that the Council is acting as a rational private-sector party would 
act (being sole shareholder and lender), and having taken financial advice 
identifying options that such a private sector party would rely on (i.e. focussed 
on how the Council may best recover the investment made to date alongside 
other relevant considerations such as the risks and timings involved).  

 
 Further advice may be required regarding the self-delivery (and acquisition) 

options referred to in paragraphs 3.20 to 3.23, insofar as decisions relate to the 
powers of the Council under housing law, including in relation to HRA 
accounting.  

  
 Approved by Sean Murphy, Head of Commercial and Property Law & Deputy 
 Monitoring Officer on behalf of the Interim Director of Law & Governance. 
 
8. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPACT  
 
8.1 There are no HR implications or impact for the Council as a result of this report; 

and if any arise these will be managed under Brick by Brick, policies and 
procedures as staff group are directly employed under Brick by Brick terms and 
conditions. 

 
 Approved by Jennifer Sankar, for and on behalf, of Sue Moorman, HR Director. 

Page 21



LEGAL\47757000v1  

 
 
9. EQUALITIES IMPACT   
 
9.1 There are no equalities impacts arising from this report.  However the 

implications of the issues raised and how they are addressed may have an 
effect on the medium term financial plan. Any subsequent savings plans that 
have a staffing impact or impact on vulnerable and/or groups that share a 
protected characteristic will be subject to agreed HR procedures, formal 
consultation and equality analysis. 

 
Approved by: Yvonne Okiyo, Equalities Manager  

  
 
10. ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT  
 
10.1 There are no environmental impacts arising from this report 
 
 
11. CRIME AND DISORDER REDUCTION IMPACT  
 
11.1  There are no Crime and disorder reduction impacts arising from this report 

 
 

12. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS/PROPOSED DECISION 
 
12.1  There is no ideal option in dealing with Brick by Brick, all of the options and 

scenarios reviewed have a mix of risks and costs in the form of debt write off 
attached to them. However, taking into account the Council’s financial situation 
and the level of risk involved in a number of the options, the option to either 
build out sites and subsequently sell some of them or sell the business are the 
only options that reduce risk whilst minimising the level of debt write off to the 
Council. None of the options are without some cost write off but the Options to 
be taken forward in this paper for further consideration whilst a potential sale is 
considered reduces the risk of write off. 

 
 
13. OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED  
 
 
13.1 The report contains a range of options considered by the PwC strategic review 

report issued initially in November and now concluded. These are outlined in 
the body of this report in the attached appendix 3, and the confidential paper. 
Financial analysis and the Council’s necessary lowered risk appetite and 
financial capacity means that the other options considered presented greater 
financial risk to the Council and as such were unviable. However, the viable 
options as set out in this paper can be investigated in parallel so that the 
Council is in a position to make a firm decision on build out or sale once due 
diligence has been undertaken by and on the prospective purchaser.: 

 
 
14.  DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS 

Page 22



LEGAL\47757000v1  

 
14.1 WILL THE SUBJECT OF THE REPORT INVOLVE THE PROCESSING  

OF ‘PERSONAL DATA’? 
 
NO  
 
  
 

14.2  HAS A DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT (DPIA) BEEN 
COMPLETED? 
 
NO    
 
 
  

 
CONTACT OFFICER:  Chris Buss, consultant 
 
APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT 
 
Appendix 1 - PwC Report (Part B agenda) 
 
Appendix 2 – Schemes under construction 
 
Appendix 3- Options for future of Brick by Brick 
 
Appendix 4- Sites awaiting transfer to Brick by Brick 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

 

Brick by Brick sites under contract 

 

Development name Current PC 
date / PC 
achieved  

 
Estimate as 

as 4.1.21 

No of 
units 

Social 
Housing units 
agreed to be 
purchased 
July 20 report  

Social Housing 
units 
(Temporary 
Accommodation) 
agreed as part of 
March 20 
cabinet Report 

Academy Gardens  Mar 23 9 0 0 
Auckland Rise and Sylvan Hill Feb-21 57 34 0 

Avenue Road Oct-21 12 0 0 
Belgrave & Grosvenor            May-

23 
102 0 0 

Cheriton House (Flora Court) Jan-21 27 0 0 
Chertsey Crescent Oct-20 7 2 5 
Coldharbour Road Nov-21               9  0 0 
Coombe Road             Jun-22 9 0 0 
Drummond Road (Ann's Place) Dec-20 28 0 0 
Eagle Hill   8 0 0 
Heathfield Gardens Mar-21 20 7 12 
Hermitage Road Dec-19 9 0 0 

Homefield House (Windmill Place) Jun-20 24 0 0 
Kingsdown Jan-21 34 5 12 

Lion Green Road Nov-22 157 33 0 
Longheath Gardens Nov-21 

(block J) 
53 7 7 

Malton House  Mar 23 9 0 0 
Marston Way Jan-21 12 0 0 
Northbrook Road Jan-21 11 6 5 
Oxford Road Jan-21 9 0 0 

Ravensdale Gardens and Rushden 
Close 

Dec-20 30 0 0 

Regina Road  Mar 23 19 0 0 
Station Road Jul-20 14 0 0 
Thorneloe Gardens Dec-20 10 6 4 
Tollers Lane Apr-21 40 10 30 
Tollgate and Stockbury Feb-21 42 41 1 
Wandle Road Dec-21 128 0 0 
Warbank Crescent Feb-21 36 36 0 
Warminster Oct-21 6 0 0 
  TOTALS 931 187 76 

Page 25



Appendix 3 

 

 

 

 

Funding 
assumption  

“Winding up” 
Close the business 
and sell all assets, 
regardless of the 
status (Fire sale). 

• Put the company 
into an 
insolvency 
process.  

No further funding available  Further funding is available 

“Full sale” 
Market the business’ 

assets as a going 
concern and sell 
them, or market 

shares in the 
company and sell 

them to a third party. 

“MBO sale” 
• Stop funding, 

market the 
business and 
sell shares in 
the company 
by way of an 
MBO. 

Full details not yet 
known.   

i. Appoint 
administrators under 
the floating charge, 
pursuant to the 2018 
debenture. 

Option description 
and permutations  

ii. Appoint liquidators 
under the fixed 
charges.  

Options that require least further funding from LBC Options that require most further funding from LBC 

“Full build out of tranche 
1 and parts of 2” 
• New funding.  
• Continue to trade the 

business, building out 
all Tranche 1 
developments where 
construction is 
underway, selling 
only once complete.  

• Continue to progress 
tranche 2, building 
out where planning 
has been obtained.) 

• Bring Tranche 3 land 
back into the Council, 
or sell. 

• BBB continues to 
trade for four/five 
years then becomes 
run off vehicle.  

Positives 

Negatives  

• Requires no 
further funding of 
developments.  

• Expensive 
• Destroys 

significant value 
through 
insolvency 
process 

• May compromise 
contractor build 
contracts 

• Risks sales 
pipeline.  

“Limited build out” 
Sell some sites 
• Limited new 

funding. 
• Continue building 

out some Tranche 
1 developments 
where construction 
is underway, selling 
some partly 
complete sites. 

• Sell land with 
planning.  

• Bring land back 
into the Council.  

• Restructuring of the 
business once 
tranche 1 all 
complete and sold.  

• BBB continues to 
trade for up to 
three years then 
becomes run off 
vehicle.  

“As is” 
• Continue to 

trade the 
business as 
is. 

• BBB 
continues to 
trade. 

• Full funding 
requirement 
across all 
phases.   
 

Further funding of 
more than £313m 
is required in this 
scenario per latest 
forecasts. 
In our view, this is 
not a viable option 
for the Council. 
No further work is 
proposed. 

• Depends on the 
MBO team 
being able to 
secure loan 
funding, and 
terms of the 
MBO being 
acceptable to 
LBC.   

“Managed 
winding down” 
Sell most 
• Limited new 

funding. Only 
build out 
developments 
where 
essential.  

• Market all 
others for 
sale. Do not 
progress 
Tranche 2. 

• Market land 
for sale, or 
bring back into 
the Council. 

• Early 
restructuring 
of the 
business to 
reduce 
running costs.  

• BBB becomes 
run off vehicle.   

Time requirement  • Insolvency takes 
several months 
and potentially 
years.  

• Sales process 
takes months. 

• Sales process 
takes months. 

• Lowest level of 
build out takes 
up to two 
years.  

• Longer build out 
takes up to three 
years 

• Longest build out 
takes four to five 
years.  

• Realises cash for 
the Council.  

• Requires short 
term funding for 
short term 
trading.  

• Ongoing supply 
of affordable/ 
social housing.  

• Potentially lower 
level of funding.  

• May require 
complex contract 
novations where 
construction is 
underway.  

• May not realise 
the full value of 
the 
developments. 

• May result in 
less than 
optimum 
outcome as sites 
with higher 
potential may 
not be 
developed 

• Extended run off 
period will maker 
completion of sites 
difficult due to staff 
run down  

• Extended run off 
period will maker 
completion of sites 
difficult due to staff 
run down  

• Longest trading 
timescale, and 
funding requirement.  

• Lowest new 
cash 
requirement. 

• Realises cash 
for the Council.  

• Mid level new cash 
requirement. 

• Realises some cash 
for the Council 
through sales. 

• Maximises ongoing 
supply of affordable/ 
social housing.  

i. Sell to one 
or more 
developers.  

iii. Sell to a 
pension 
fund asset 
holder 
(unlikely) 

ii. Sell to a 
provider of 
social 

  

P
age 26



Appendix 4 

  

Sites No longer to be developed out by Brick by Brick  

Sites agreed by Cabinet as part of 2019 – Pipeline  

Land adjacent to Brickfields Meadow - Land 

Freelands Avenue - Land 

Heather Way - Garages / Car Park 
Tedder Road - Garages 
Thorpe Close - Garages (south) 

Redstart Close - Garages (south) 

Redstart Close - Garages (north) 
Comport Green - Garages 
Calley Down Crescent - Garages 
Calley Down Crescent Garages 
King Henry’s Drive / Gascoigne Road Flats - Infill 
King Henry's Drive - Land near Tudor Academy 
Frimley Cresent - Garages 
9 Bramley Hill - Garages 
18 Bramley Hill - Garages 
Duppas Hill Terrace - Infill 
Bracken Avenue - Garages 
Broom Gardens - Garages 
Erica Gardens - Garages 
Border Gardens - Garages 
Bramble Close - Garages 
Fir Tree Gardens - Garages 
Laurel Crescent - Land 
Bedwardine Road Upper Norwood - Garages 
Kennelwood Crescent, New ADDINGTON  - Garages 
Arkell Grove, Upper Norwood - Garages 
Tamworth Road - former social Club 

 

  

Page 27



Appendix 4 

 

Sites agreed by Cabinet 2020 pipeline  

Land including garages access adjacent to 115 Hermatige Road 191 Hermatige Road 

Crystal Terrace - Two blocks of flats bounded by Eagle Hill, Dover Road and Hancock Road 

Mill Court, 12 Highfield Hill 
188-200 South Norwood Hill Estate 

Flats adjacent to Beulah Family Church 

Garnet Road Estate 

Pridham Road Estate 
Flats fronting Whitworth Road and Whitehorse Lane 

Warminster Gardens Estate 

Penge Road Estate 

Regina Road Estate enclosed by Regina Road to the north and Sunny bank to the south 

Elmwood Road/Wellington Road Estate 
239 - Eastney Road/Denmead Road 
Freemason's Road/Lower Addiscombe Road 

Havelock house, Lower Addiscombe Road 
Fisher Close/Academy Gardens Estate 
Croftleigh Ave Estate  
Greenview Avenue 
203 - Land adjacent to 692 Mitcham Road 
203 - Wingate Crescent Garages (block of 13) 
203 - Wingate Crescent Garages (block of 9) 

Albion Street 
Denmead Road 
Land at end of Leighton Street 
Corner of Denmead Road and Gardeners Road 

268 - Cherry Tree Green 
276 - Comport Green Garages 
277 - New Addington North - Overbury Cresent/Parkway 

278 - Fieldway South - Castle Hill Avenue Garages 

291 - Bracken Avenue 

291 - Broom Gardens 
291 - Erica Gardens 
291 - Border Gardens 
291 - Bramble Close 
291 - Laurel Crescent 
291 - Fir Tree Gardens 
Eagle Hill Garages 
Fishers Farm  

 

Other Sites previously agreed to transfer  

Farnborough Avenue - Land 

King Henry’s Drive / Fairchildes Avenue - Land 

Selsdon Road Flats (at approx 158 Selsdon Road) - Garages 
Queens Road Sites (Ashby)(Tirrell)  
Coulsdon Calat Site Malcolm Rd  

Coulsdon Community Centre 

Uvedale Crescent 

Drovers road  

Fairfield halls / College green 

Atlanta Court /Parchmore Road- infill / garages  
 

Page 28



Document is Restricted

Page 29

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 39

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Review of Brick by Brick Croydon Ltd
	Appendix 1A - Brick by Brick Cabinet Report
	13. OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

	Appendix 1B - Cabinet Report Appendices 2-4

	8 Review of Brick by Brick Croydon Ltd
	Appendix 1D - Cabinet Report Appendix 1 (Confidential)


